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NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a civil action brought by Relator Ronda Osinek on her own behalf and on behalf
of the United States of America against Kaiser Permanente (“Kaiser”) under the False Claims Act, 31
U.S.C. § 3729, et seq., to recover damages, civil penalties, and other relief owed to the United States
and Relator.

2. Defendant Kaiser is a private provider of Medicare Advantage insurance under Medicare
Part C. Kaiser defrauded the United States through a sophisticated scheme to upcode diagnoses to
ensure Medicare payments for reimbursable, high-value conditions. Kaiser effectuated its scheme
through data mining and pressuring physicians and staff to retroactively change patient medical
records.

3. Kaiser’s upcoding scheme is a direct violation of the Federal requirements for Medicare
beneficiary reimbursement, leads to the submission of false and fraudulent claims to the United States,
and results in Kaiser receiving excess Medicare payments.

PARTIES

4, Plaintiff is the United States of America by and through Relator, Ronda Osinek. Relator
is a resident of the State of California. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of the United States
Department of Health and Human Services and its component, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services.

5. Relator Ronda Osinek has been employed by The Permanente Medical Group of Kaiser

Permanente, as a Data Quality Trainer since June 2006. Internal, non-public information known to

Relator serves as the basis for this action. Relator has direct knowledge of methods used by Defendant

to submit false or fraudulent data to CMS for reimbursement.

6. Defendant, Kaiser Permanente is a California corporation with its principal place of
business at One Kaiser Plaza, Oakland, California 94612. Kaiser is one of the largest Medicare
Advantage organizations in the country and has more enrollees in its Medicare Advantage plans than
any other organization in California. At all times relevant, Kaiser conducted business in California,
including but not limited to providing healthcare services through Medicare Advantage plans and to the

general public in California.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1345. This Court has
subject matter jurisdiction over the claims alleged in this Complaint under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 (Federal
question), 1345 (United States as plaintiff), and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) (False Claims Act).

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a)
because Defendant can be found, resides, and transacts business in the Northern District of California
and because an act proscribed by 31 U.S.C. § 3729 occurred within this District.

9. This Complaint is not based on the facts underlying any pending action, within the
meaning of the False Claims Act’s first to file rule, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(5).

10.  This action is not precluded by any provisions of the False Claims Act’s jurisdiction bar.
31 U.S.C. § 3730(e) et seq.

a. This Complaint is not based upon allegations or transactions that are the subject of a
civil suit or an administrative civil money penalty proceeding in which the United States
is already a party. 31 U.S.C. §3730(e)(3).

b. There has been no “public disclosure” of the matters alleged herein and this action is
not “based upon” any such disclosure, within the meaning of 31 U.S.C. §3730(e)(4)(A).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Relator is an “original source” of this information as
defined by 31 U.S.C. §3730(e)(4)(B) of the False Claims Act, and as such, she is
expressly excepted from its public disclosure bar.

11.  Venue is proper in the San Francisco or Oakland Divisions of the Northern District of
California under 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a), 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), and Civil Local Rule 3-2(d) because
Defendant can be found in and transacts business within this District.

THE FEDERAL FALSE CLAIMS ACT

12.  The False Claims Act was originally enacted in 1863, and was substantially amended in
1986. Congress enacted the 1986 amendments to enhance and modernize the government’s tools for
recovering losses sustained by frauds against it after finding that federal program fraud was pervasive.

The amendments were intended to create incentives for individuals with knowledge of government
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frauds to disclose the information without fear of reprisals or government inaction, and to encourage
the private bar to commit resources to prosecuting fraud on the government’s behalf,

13, The False Claims Act provides that any person who presents, or causes to be presented,
false or fraudulent claims for payment or approval to the United States Government, or knowingly
makes, uses, or causes to be made or used false records and statements to induce the government to pay
or approve false and fraudulent claims, is liable for a civil penalty ranging from $5,500 up to $11,000
for each such claim, plus three times the amount of the damages sustained by the federal government.
No proof of specific intent to defraud is required under the Act.

14.  The Act also allows any person having information about false or fraudulent claims to
bring an action for himself or herself and the government, and to share in any recovery. Based on these
provisions, Relator seeks through this action to recover all available damages, civil penalties, and other
relief for state and federal violations alleged. Although the precise amount of the loss from Kaiser’s
misconduct alleged in this action cannot presently be determined, it is estimated that the damages and
civil penalties amount to millions of dollars.

BACKGROUND

15. In 1965, Congress enacted Title XVIII of the Social Security Act, known as the
Medicare program. Medicare is a federally-funded health insurance program for people who are over
the age of 65, under age 65 with certain disabilities, and for people of all ages with End-Stage Renal
Disease. As of 2012, Medicare provided insurance to approximately 50.7 million people.

16.  The Centers for Medicare & Medication Services (“CMS”) is the division of the
Department of Health and Human Services that is responsible for the reimbursement, administration,
and supervision of the Medicare program. Medicare includes the following categories of benefits:
hospital insurance for inpatient hospital care (Part A), medical insurance for doctors’ services and
outpatient care (Part B), and prescription drug coverage to offset the cost of medications (Part D).
Medicare beneficiaries may opt out of the traditional program and receive benefits through Medicare
Part C, also known as “Medicare Advantage.” Medicare Advantage plans are federally funded

privately-run insurance plans. For a monthly fee established by Medicare that is determined per
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enrollee, Medicare Advantage organizations, such as Kaiser, provide the services available through
Medicare Parts A and B (inpatient and outpatient services).

17.  The per-enrollee monthly fee is derived by a formula that is primarily based on two
main factors. The first factor, the base rate, is the standard cost of providing Medicare Parts A and B
benefits to an average beneficiary. The second factor is a risk score that takes into consideration the
enrollee’s actual health risks based on disease conditions and his or her demographics, such as age and
gender. The risk score is calculated using a complex statistical model called the CMS-HCC Risk
Adjustment Model. The result is that enrollees with more severe health risks derive a higher monthly
payment because Medicare expects that they will require more expensive care. In other words, the
higher the risk score, the more money Medicare pays the Medicare Advantage organization (such as
Kaiser) each month.

18.  CMS requires Medicare enrollees’ disease conditions to be diagnosed and memorialized
by a physician as a result of a face-to-face encounter according to the International Classification of
Disease, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (“ICD-9), which is the official system of assigning
codes to diagnoses associated with health care in the United States. The ICD-9 codes are mapped to
disease groups known as hierarchical condition categories or HCCs. The HCC categories are, in turn,
used under the risk adjustment model to reflect the enrollee’s health risks, and thus directly correlate to
the amount of payments the Government is to pay the Medicare Advantage organization each month.

FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR MEDICARE ADVANTAGE PAYMENTS

19.  Medicare Advantage plans such as Kaiser are legally obligated to accurately and
properly submit data to CMS to receive payment for Medicare beneficiaries. The Medicare Advantage
plan must have documentation from provider encounters (rather than prescriptions or test results)
supporting associated ICD-9 diagnoses. Any causal link between a disease and a resulting
complication must be established and supported during the doctor-patient visit. According to the ICD-

9 Official Guidelines:

The importance of consistent, complete documentation in the medical record cannot be
overemphasized. Without such documentation accurate coding cannot be achieved. The
entire record should be reviewed to determine the specific reason for the encounter and
the conditions treated.
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The term encounter is used for all settings, including hospital admissions. In the context

of these guidelines, the term provider is used throughout the guidelines to mean physician

or any qualified health care practitioner who is legally accountable for establishing the

patient’s diagnosis. Only this set of guidelines, approved by the Cooperating Parties, is

official.

20.  All relevant documentation is entered into a medical record at the time of service. CMS
recognizes, however, there may be times that a provider will need to amend, correct, or enter
documentation related to an encounter. CMS expects supplemental documentation to be occasional,
and that delayed or amended entries will be entered within a reasonable time frame. See Medicare
Program Integrity Manual, Pub. 100-08, 43.3.2.5 (Rev. 442, Implementation Jan. 8,2013). CMS will
consider delayed or amended explanations for diagnoses so long as the explanations are for clarification
and not for substantiating retroactive diagnoses. According to the leading organization that trains and
certifies individuals on physician-based medical coding, the American Association of Professional
Coders or AAPC, Medicare understands a reasonable time frame to be 24 to 48 hours because it is not
reasonable for a provider to recall a visit two weeks (or more) after it occurred. Similarly, according to
AAPC, addenda to medical records should not be a normal practice, but an exception to CMS’ general
rule in which a provider fully documents a visit at the time of the encounter or shortly thereafter.

21.  CMS also requires that all documentation in a medical record be specific to a given
patient’s situation at the time of the documented visit, which means medical records documentation
language should not be the same (i.e., cloned or boilerplate) from patient to patient or provider to
provider.

KAISER VIOLATED THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT

22.  Prior to 2004, Medicare Advantage organizations such as Kaiser were paid by CMS only
based on an enrollee’s demographic information. For instance, prior to 2004, Kaiser was paid the same
for all 77-year-old women in a community regardless of their actual disease conditions. When
Congress passed the Medicare Modernization Act of 2003, CMS phased in the CMS-HCC Risk
Adjustment Model between 2004 and 2007. Beginning in 2007, Medicare Advantage plans received
payments based entirely on the CMS-HCC Risk Adjustment Model, which, as described above,

considers an enrollee’s actual health risk.
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23.  Inresponse to the phase-in of the Risk Adjustment Model, Kaiser established the
Encounter Information Operations department. The department is managed by The Permanente
Medical Group, Inc., in Oakland, California, and tasked with overseeing Medicare coding and ensuring
document standards are met. The Encounter Information Operations department includes Data Quality
Trainers, Data Quality Auditors, CMS project managers, and CMS lead physician(s) who are assigned
to, and work out of, each of Kaiser’s Northern California facilities. Relator, a trained and certified
medical coder, was recruited and hired by The Permanente Medical Group as the Data Quality Trainer
and Audit Manager for the San Rafael Kaiser facility in 2006. Relator trained physicians on coding
guidelines. If the facility’s auditor found discrepancies between coding and documentation in progress
or visit notes, Relator was sent to meet with the physicians to remediate the discrepancies and re-train
them on proper coding practices.

24.  Inor about 2007, there was a shift in the interactions with doctors and the management
of the Encounter Information Operations department at Kaiser. Kaiser’s Encounter Information
Operations department began using a system to capture “missed opportunities,” which are brought to
the attention of physicians to ensure that all possible Medicare billing opportunities are captured, a
process some Kaiser physicians refer to as “diagnosis chasing.” By moving away from its focus on
data quality and auditing physician coding to what Kaiser terms “refreshing” and “data mining,” Kaiser
was able to increase its billings for high value hierarchical condition categories or HCCs.

25.  Kaiser focuses its data mining on high value disease conditions for which Kaiser can
maximize its reimbursement from Medicare and increase its revenue. Put another way, Kaiser
identified the higher value HCCs and then determined the diagnoses its doctors would need to make to
support the HCCs Kaiser wanted to submit for Medicare reimbursement. As of 2012, the Encounter
Information Operations department used a variety of algorithms to identify the following discase
conditions for data mining, which leads to upcoding (changes made over time in the diagnosis codes
that make their enrollees appear less healthy than they actually are):

a. Chronic kidney disease
b. Diabetes mellitus with diabetic chronic kidney disease

c. Diabetes mellitus with diabetic nephropathy
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d. Congestive heart failure

e. Depression

f. Amputations

g. Ostomy

h. Tracheostomies

i. Stable angina

j. Peripheral vascular disease

k. Diabetic peripheral vascular disease

l. Diabetes with diabetic dyslipidemia
m. Diabetes with diabetic erectile dysfunction
n. Chronic respiratory failure

0. Cachexia/Protein Calorie Malnutrition

Severe obesity

L B

Dementia

Seizure

o

s. Chronic pancreatitis

26.  The consequence of Kaiser’s focus on refreshing and data mining for missed
opportunities is that physicians take into consideration HCCs and the Medicare payment system when
coding and recording patient encounters. For example, Kaiser told its physicians to diagnose chronic
kidney disease instead of the lower value nephritis or nephropathy. From 2010 to 2012, Kaiser shifted
diagnoses from the lower risk nephropathy to the higher health risk (and higher-paying) chronic kidney
disease. The charts below demonstrate Kaiser’s success in bringing up its chronic kidney disease
diagnoses while shifting away from the lower-paying nephropathy. HCC 132 (nephropathy) dropped by
200 diagnoses per 10,000 members from 2010 to 2012. HCC 131 (chronic kidney disease), which has
a higher risk and is reimbursable at a higher rate than HCC 132, increased by more than 400 diagnoses

per 10,000 members during the same time period.
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27.  Likewise, when CMS announces that HCCs are eliminated (and no longer reimbursable
by Medicare), Kaiser tells its physicians to change coding practices to reflect new reimbursable codes.
CMS is “concerned about the high rate of coding of other HCCs by M[edicare] A[dvantage]
organizations, [Fee for Service or] FFS providers, given that the coefficients are calibrated on FFS
data.” Therefore, CMS “made changes to . . . HCCs to address M[edicare] A[dvantage] coding
intensity.” For example, “[s]ince the clinically-revised model allowed [CMS] to better estimate
marginal costs for a wider range of renal disease (specifically, the current HCC131 renal failure is split
among a range of acute and chronic kidney conditions), we removed the lower-severity kidney disease
HCCs, including Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) stage 3, CKD stages 1-2, or unspecified; unspecified
renal failure; and nephritis.” In other words, to address upcoding, CMS notified Medicare Advantage
providers that starting in 2014, the HCCs for chronic kidney disease stages 1 through 3 would be
eliminated, meaning that Kaiser would no longer receive reimbursement for patients submitted with
HCC 131. Inresponse to CMS’s notification that HCC 131 will be eliminated, Kaiser promptly sent
materials to its staff to begin prompting physicians to code diagnoses for acute kidney injury instead of
chronic kidney disease stage 1, 2, or 3, which will be included in the 2014 HCC list and reimbursable
by Medicare.

28.  To support the HCCs submitted to Medicare, Kaiser needs its physicians to amend
patient files. Under CMS guidelines, physicians must verify that they considered a diagnosis or treated
a diagnosis during the physician encounter, which means a physician must address what was
contemporaneously considered if he or she addends a diagnosis. Kaiser’s Medicare enrollee medical
records include addenda with supporting statements or documentation that were not addressed at the
time of an encounter. Kaiser should be training physicians to follow Medicare best practices and
guidelines to contemporaneously document and code disease conditions during or immediately after
face-to-face visits. Instead, Kaiser has its physicians systematically addend patient records
retroactively—often many months after visits—with cloned or boilerplate language to make the patient
record appear to comply with CMS instructions.

29.  After an encounter, Kaiser tells physicians to go back to see what a member’s previous

test results showed to make diagnoses, which is not an appropriate data source for coding a diagnosis
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32.  Kaiser also provides boilerplate phrases to help its physicians justify addenda. Kaiser’s
boilerplate addendum phrases can be automatically inserted through a combination of key strokes and
physicians are expected to use these phrases rather than their own language and discretion based on
what they recall from visits. The language Kaiser physicians use is intended to give CMS the
impression that the doctor thought about the addenda and wants to comply with Medicare instructions
for amendments and corrections. Encounter Information Operations staff send emails to physicians
recommending the use of macros such as “.DXUPDATE” for addendum phrases, leading the
physicians to state exactly what Kaiser needs records to say to amend records for coding. For example,
when a physician enters “.DXUPDATE,” the following phrases will populate the medical record:
“After review of my note for this encounter, I recall this visit and am addending this note to state that
this patient has a more specific diagnosis of: @diag@.”

a. Dr. Rukiye Yoltar met with a patient on September 5, 2012. At 5:53 PM on October
9, 2012, a month later she writes: “After review of my note for this encounter, |
recall this visit and am addending this note to state that this patient has a more
specific diagnosis of: DM 2 W DIABETIC MIXED HYPERLIPIDEMIA (primary
encounter diagnosis).”

b. Dr. Charles E. Metzger met with a patient on January 19, 2012 at 11:13 AM. Nearly
nine months later on October 9, 2012, at 6:34 PM he used nearly identical language
as Dr. Yoltar on the same day: “After review of my note for this encounter, I recall
this visit and am addending this note to state that this patient has a more specific
diagnosis of: DM2 W DIABETIC MIXED HYPERLIPIDEMIA.”

c. Another example of boilerplate language was sent through email for use with

upcoding to diabetes with diabetic chronic kidney disease:

13
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FROM EMAIL SENT BY KAREN GRAHAM TO DOC CODING LEADS
Karen Graham/CA/KAIPERM
11/08/2011 11:34 PM

To Doc Coding Leads-KPNC
cc
Subject EBA-SmartPhrase for Addendum to capture DM w/DCKD

As a follow up to the Doc & Coding Leads conf call, East Bay provided the foliowing
Smartphrase which Dr. David Law created to use in an Addendum for DM w/DCKD:

"After reviewing my visit note, | recall this encounter. The visit note reflects that |

evaluated the patient, who has the dlagnosis of dlabetic CKD, stage 1. Plan is to
optimize control of blood pressure and diabetes, and recheck urine protein”

33.  Although physicians should be using their own discretion for diagnosing, if doctors
disagree with the prompt to review and addend records, they must explain their refusal to the regional
Encounter Information Operations auditors. To ensure there are almost no “missed opportunities” to
capture data mined and refreshed diagnoses, Kaiser pressures its physicians to addend diagnoses and
capture the high value HCCs, with the assistance of staff, including Relator. For example, to ensure
capturing of HCCs, Kaiser instituted an escalation process for physicians who do not agree with the
data mining prompts. Physicians will have to meet one-on-one with Data Quality Trainers if they
refuse to make diagnoses changes that are presented by data mining. The physicians must explain why
they disagree, resulting in The Permanente Medical Group’s management engaging with these
physicians directly until there is resolution. Physicians often give in and use the diagnoses that
management asks for rather than using their own, original judgment in coding diagnoses. The following
slide from the Encounter Information Operations department describes the escalation process, including

meeting with management such as Lead Physician Jill Dunton.

14
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COUNT1
False Claims Act Violations — Presentation of False Claims
(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A))

43.  Relator re-alleges and incorporates all paragraphs alleged herein.

44. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant knowingly presented or caused to
be presented, to the United States Government false or fraudulent claims for the payment or approval
of medical services in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

45. By reason of these payments, the United States has been damaged, and continues to be
damaged, by a substantial amount.

COUNT 11
False Claims Act Violations — False Records or Statements
(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B))

46.  Relator re-alleges and incorporates all paragraphs alleged herein.

47. By virtue of the acts described above, Defendant knowingly made, used, or caused to be
made or used, false records or statements material to false or fraudulent claims paid or approved by the
United States Government in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B).

48. By reason of these payments, the United States has been damaged, and continues to be
damaged, by a substantial amount.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Relator Ronda Osinek requests that judgment be entered against Defendant, ordering
that:

49, Defendant pays not less than $5,500 and not more than $11,000 for each violation of 31
U.S.C. § 3729(a) plus three times the amount of damages the United States has sustained because of
Defendant’s actions;

50.  Relator be awarded the maximum amount allowed pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(d);

51.  Relator be awarded all costs of this action, including attorneys' fees and costs pursuant

to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(d); and

21
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52.  The United States and Relator recover such other relief as the Court deems just and
proper.
JURY TRIAL
Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.

Dated: August _Z_{2013 Respectfully Submitted

GIRARD GIBBS LLP

Eric H. Gibbs

Dylan Hughes

Phyra M. McCandless

601 California Street, 14th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94108
Telephone: (415) 981-4800
Facsimile: (415) 981-4846

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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